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ニ ALEED
「ATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTHERN DISTRttCT OF iCALIFORNIA

UNttTED STATES OF AMERttCA′

P■aintiff′

GEORGE Ko REESE (■ )′

GEORGE K. REESE PROFESS10NAL
CHIROPRACTIC CORPORATION (2)′

LEE MATHIS (3)′
FERNANDO VALDES (4)′
FOREMOST SHOCKWAVE SOLUTIONS (5)′

Defendants.

June 20L4 Grand Jury
GR 2022 0ASCase No.   5

iii.:‐li8:i.:.:.::ec. 37■  ―
conspiracy′  Tit■e ■8′  UoS.C.′
Sec. ■34■ and ■346 - Honest
services Mai■  Fraud′  Tit■ e ■8′
UoS.C.′  Sec. ■952(a)(■ )(A)and
(a)(3)(A)―  Trave■  Act, Tit■ e ■8′
U.S.C.′  Sec. 2 - Attdttng and
AbettingF Tttt■e ■8′  UoS.C.′
Sec. 98■ (a)(■ )(C)′  and
Tit■ e 28′  UoS.C.′  Sec. 246■ (c)一
Criminal Forfettture

The Grand 」ury charges′  at a■ ■ times materia■ :

工NTRODUCTORY ALLEGATIONS

THE DEFENDAI.iflTS A.I{D OTHER PARTTCIPAI{ITS

1. Defendant GEORGE K. REESE was a chiropractor who has been

licensed by the State of California since L992. REESE practiced

through the Georgie K. Reese Professional Chiropractic Corporation.

REESE operat,ed his chiropractic practice at his office located at

2g5g El Cajon Boulevard, then at 2047 E1 Cajon Boulevard, San Diego,

California, and acted as the primary treatj-ng physician for patients

at his office.

VHC:CPH:FAS:nlV(3)
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2. Defendant  GEORGE  K.   REESE  PROFESSIONAL  CHIROPRACTIC

CORPORATION was formed on Augusts 28, 2001 and was licensed by the

California Board of Chiropractic Examiners.

3. Defendant LEE MATHIS was a licensed altorney vrho was

admitted to practice in California in 1973. MATHIS was an owner of

defendant FOREMOST SHOCKWAVE SOLUTIONS ("FOREMOST" ) , and shares

signature autshority with defendant FERNANDO VALDES on two of

FOREMOST'S We11s Fargo business bank accounts. MATHIS was also the

ful-I or partial owner of several ot.her companj-es, including MCLA,

Inc., and L&T Services, fnc. Hj-s companj-es and 1aw practice were

located at 7291- Garden Grove Boulevard, Suj-Le H, in Garden Grove,

California, which was also the address of record for defendant

FOREMOST, and two other companies, Medical Management NeE.work, Inc.
("MIv0{" ) and iMedical, Inc .

Deferrdant Fernando Valdes was an owner of FOREMOST and held

serv j-ce of process.

agent for service of

4.

the titles of President., CEO, and agent for
VAIDES was previousl-y the Presidents, CEO, and

process for MI{N and was an employee of iMedical .

5. Defendant FOREMOST was a California Corporat.ion which was

formed in April 2005, and had an address with the California
Secretary of State of 729]- carden crove Boulevard, Suite H, in Garden

Grove, Cal-ifornia (the same tocation as MMN, iMedical, MLCA. and

L&T) . FOREMOST provided Extracorporeal Shockwave Therapy

("shockwave") treatments to patients, as described more fuI1y below.

6. '.Dr. was a physician who conducted examinations and

evaluations of patients in the souEhern District of california, who

owed a fiduciary dut.y to his paEients. Dr. B referred pat.ients to
defendant FoREMosr for shockwave treatments, and received paymenLs
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from insurers for purportedly "supervising" FoREMoST technicians as

they performed shockwave EreaLments on patsients, as compensation for

having referred the patient. to FOREMOST for shockwave.

in CenEral and Soutshern California.

8. "Dr. was a chiropractor who operated numerous medical

offices in the cenEral District of California, and caused paLients to

be referred for shockwave tsreatments trith defendant FoREMoST.

g. "Doctors" refers to certain medical professionals

(including defendant GEORGE K. REESE. Dr. B and Dr. D) and tsheir

affiliated entsitsies ( incl-udi-ng GEoRGE K. REESE PRoFEssIoNAI

CHfROPRACTIC CoRPORATIoN) , who: practiced in the state of California.

ohled a fiduciary duty to their patients, referred or caused to be

referred patsients to FOREMoST for shockwave treatmenls, and were

paid, either directly by FOREMOST or through Intermediaries, for

supplylng patients to FOREMOST for shockwave lreatments.

10. "Person A" was a medical marketser in L,os Angeles, Orange,

and san Diego counties who brokered bribe and kickback arrangements

betsween FOREMOST and Doctors.

11. " Intermediaries" refers to certain entities and

individuals. including Person A and Dr. c, who brokered arrangemenEs

and acted as middlemen in bribe and kickback arrangements between

FOREMOST and Doctors.

CAI,IFORNIA WORKERS' COMPENSATION PROGRAM

L2.TheCaliforniaworkers,Compensalionsystem("c.v{cs")

provided benefits including healthcare coverage tso workers who are

injured on the job. CWCS required employers in California to provide

benefits to workers for qualifying injuries sustained in Lhe course
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of their emplo)rment. The medical benefits awailable to an injured

worker under the CWCS included those that are reasonably reguired to

cure or relieve them from the effects of their injury. Providers of

medical services to gualifying patients sought payment for these

services by mailing claj-ms tso CWCS employers and insurers.

SHOCKWA\rE TIIERAPY

13. Shockwave. as used by FoREMoSTT was a treatment modality

that used 1ow energy sound waves to initiate lj-ssue repair of

muscul-oskeletal conditions. The treatment was not a surgical

procedure and patsients were noE placed under anestshesia. ' To

administer shockwave treatments, FoREIvIoST'S tsechnicians utilized a

Sonocur Basic machine. The Sonocur Basic has been approved by the

Federal Drug Administration only for the treatment of chronic laEeral

epicondyl!-tis (tennj-s elbow) for which the symptoms are unresponsive

to stsandard therapy for more than six months.

CAI,IFORNIA' S CWCS A.!frTI -BRIBERY I,AWS

1"4. Multiple California l-arrs prohibited paying or receiving

fees for paEient referrals. Specifically, California Labor Code

S 139.3 prohlbited physicians (including chiropracLors) whose

services were paid under the CWCS from referring any person for

certain services if the physician had a financial interest in the

party receiving the referral . The same Iaw prohibited physicians

from accepting or receiving consideration as compensaLion or

inducement for a referred evaluation or consultation. AIso,

insurance providers were prohibiEed from knowingly paying for any

services resulting from referrals, and faced criminal and civil

penalties for engaging in such conducts. section 139.3 also required

a physician to disclose to the patien! any f inancj-al interest in any

4
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entity to which the physj-cian referred tshe patient for services to be

paid for under the CWCS. In addition, California Labor Code S 3215

applied the prohibition on referral fees to "any person," that is,
the prohibitj-on was not limited to physicians. That statute provided

that. "any person ... who offers, delivers, receives, or accepts any

rebate, refund, commission, preference, patronage, dlvidend, discount

or oEher consideratiorr" for referring clientss or patients to perform

or obtsain services or benef it.s pursuant to the CWCS "is gnrilty of a

crime. " California Business and Professions Code S 550(a) prohibj-ted

"the offer, de1ivery, receipt., or acceptance" by physicians and

chiropract.ors of "any rebate, refund, commission, preference,

patronage dividend, discount, or ot.her consideration. " as

compensation or inducement for referring patients to any person. Ard

California fnsurance Code S 750 prohibits tshe offer, delivery,

receipt, or accept.ance of any rebate. refund, commission, or other

consideration, for the referral of clients by any person who engages

in tshe pracEice of processj-ng, presentsing. or negotiating insurance

claims.

DOCTORS' FIDUCIARY DUTY TO PATIEIiI1TS

15. Physj-cians owed a fiduciary duty to their patients. This

duty required that physicians act in their patients' best interests,

and not for their own professj-onaI , pecuniary, or personal gain.

Under Californla 1aw, a physician had a fiduciary duty to disclose

all information matserial t,o the paEient's decisj-on when soliciting a

patsient's consenE to a medical procedure; such information included

personal interestss unrelaEed to the patient's hea]tsh, vrhether

research-retated or economic, that may have affectsed the physician's

professj-onaI judgment. Accepting kickbacks, bribes, and referra1

5
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fees without the

fiduciary duty to

patient′ s consent was

his patient.

a breach of a physicj-an's

Count L

CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT HONEST SERV工 CES MA工L FRAUD′  MA工L FRAUD′ AND TO
V■OLATE THE TRAVEL ACT
■8 U.S.C. § 37■
[ALL DEFENDANTS]

■6.   Paragraphs ■ through ■5 0f this lndictment are rea■ ■eged

and incorporated by reference.

■7.   Beginning on a date unknown and continuing up through the

date of this lndictment′  within the Southern Distr■ ct of Ca■ iforn■a

and  e■ sewhere′    defendants  GEORGE  K.   REESE′    GEORGE  K.   REESE

PROFESS■ ONAL CH工 ROPRACTIC CORPORAT■ ON′  LEE MATHIS′   FERNAllDO VALDES′

and  FOREMOST  SHOCKWAヽ 電  SOLUTIONS  did  knowing■y and  intentional■ y

conspire w■ th each other′   w■ th Dr.  B′   Dr.  C′  Dr.  D′   MCLA′   L&T

Services′  MMN′  and iMEDICAL′  and with others to:

a.   commit Honest Services Mai■  Fraud′  that is′  knowingly

and with the intent to defraud′  devising a material scheme to defraud

and to deprive patients of the intangib■ e right to Doctors′  honest

services′  and to Cause mailings in furtherance of the scheme′   in

vio■ation of Tit■ e ■8′  United States Code′  Sections ■34■ and ■346′

b.   commit Mail Fraud′   that  is′  knowingly and with the

intent to defraud′  devising a material scheme to defraud′   and to

obtain  money  and  property′   by  means  of  material■ y  fa■ se  and

fraudu■ ent pretenses′  representations′   promises′   and omissions and

concealments of materia■  facts, and causing mai■ ings in furtherance

of  the  scheme′   in  violation  of  Title  ■8′  United  States  Code′

Section ■34■ , and

c. violate the Travel Act, that is. to use

be used faci11ts1es in interstaEe commerce witsh intent
and cause to

to promoEe,



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

I
9

10

l- l-

L2

13

L4

l-5

t6

l7
1-8

t9

20

2t

22

23

24

)8,

25

)1

28

manage, establish, carry ofl, distribute the proceeds of, and

facilitate the promotion, management, establishment, carrying on, and

distribution of the proceeds ot, an unlawful activitsy, that is,

bribery in viol-ation of Cal-ifornia Labor Code SS 139.3 and 3215.

California Business and Professions Code S 550, and Cafifornia

Insurance Code S 750, and, thereaf t.er, to promoEe and atEempt to

perform actss tso promote, manage r estsablish, carry on, distribute the

proceeds of, and facifitate the promotion, management, establishments.

carrying oD, and distribution of the proceeds of such unlawful

activity. in wiol-ation of Title 18, United stsatses Code,

Sect,ion !952(a\ (1) (A) , and (a) (3) (A) .

FRAI'DIIIJBIT PT'RPOSE

18. It was a purpose of the conspiracy to fraudufently obtaj-n

money from CWCS insurers by submitting claims for shockwave

treatments tha! were secured lhrough a patEern of bribes and

kickbacks to Doctsors, in violation of the Doctsors' fiduciary duLy to

their pacients, concealing from pat.ients, insurers. and employers the

material- fact of the bribe and kickback agreement.

UANNER AND I4EANS

L9. The conspirators used the following manners and means,

among oEhers, to carry out the conspiracy:

a. Its was a part of the conspiracy EhaE MATHIS, VALDES,

and FOREMoST enlisted the help of Intermediaries, including Person A

and Dr. C, Eo locate Doctsors in tshe Cent.ral- and southern Districts of

California and elsewhere j-n california who would be willing Eo refer

or cause their patients to be referred to FOREMoST for shockwave

treatmentss in exchange for bribes and kickbacks.

7
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b. ft was a part of the conspiracy that, knowing that

offering and paying brj-bes and kickbacks to Doctors to refer patients

was un]awfu], MATHIS, VALDES, FOREMOST, and Intermediaries, offered

and pai.d kickbacks and bribes !o Doctors, includj-ng REESE, Dr. B, and

Dr. D, Eo refer pat.ient.s or cause patients to be referred to FoREMoST

for shockwave treatments.

c. It was a part of the conspiracy that. knowj-ng Ehat

accepting brj-bes and kickbacks Eo refer patientss was unl-av/ful,

Doctors accepted bribes from MATHIS, VALDES, FOREMOST and the

InEermediaries to refer their patients and cause patients to be

referred to FOREMOST for shockwave treatsments.

d. It was a part of the conspiracy that, knowing t.hat

paying bribes and kickbacks to Doctors !o refer patienEs was

unl-awf u1, MATHIS. VALDES, and FoREMOST agreed with tshe fnEermediaries

and Doctors to conceal the t.rue nature of the financial and other

relationships among them.

e. ft was a part of Ehe conspiracy that the conspirators

concealed from patients, and caused to be concealed from patients,

the kickback and bribe payments Doctors agreed to accept in exchange

for referring tsheir patients to FoREMoST for shockwave tsreatsments. in

violation of the Doctors' fiduciary duty to their patsients.

f. It was a part of lhe conspiracy that. the conspj-rators

submj-tstsed claims to insurers and employers tso coll-ect payment for

services provided to patients, and concealed the maLerial facts that

the treatsments were the result of brj-bes and kickbacks paid to

Doctsors and procured in violation of the Doctors' fiduciary duty to

t.heir paEients.

8
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g. It was a part of the conspiracy that, in addition to
failing to disclose the material facL that bribes and kickbacks were

paid tso Doctors and that Doctors had breached their fiduciary duty to
patients, the conspirators made and caused to be made additional

material- misrepresentatsions on the claims mailed to insurers,

including using incorrect billing codes, billing two different fees

for the same treatmenE, and falsely cfaiming that a certain doctor

had performed a shockwave treatment.

h, It was a part of the conspiracy tshat MATHIS concocted,

and MATHIS, VALDES, MMN, and iMedical billed on behalf of Doctors, an

impermissible "professj-ona1 fee" for shockwave treatments, as a

kickback to compensaEe the referring Doctsors, including Dr. B and Dr.

D, for referring their patientss to FoREMoST for shockwave treatments.

i. It was a part of the conspiracy that the

coconspirators employed numerous deceptive and fraudulent tactics tso

conceal their i11ega1 bribe and kickback scheme, j-nc1uding inserting

htermediaries !o facilitate pa)rmenls from FOREMOST to the DocEors

and proposing sham rent, lease, marketing, and management services

agreements among the parties to tsry Eo make the payments appear

l-egitimate, when in fact Ehe corrupts payments were made in exchange

for the referral of patients tso FOREMOST for shockwave servj-ces.

j. It was a part of the conspiracy that Lhe

coconspirators used and caused to be used the mails in order to carry

out their bribery and kickback scheme.

k. It was a furt.her part of the conspiracy thaE. Ehe

coconspirators util-ized interstate facilities, including telephones,

in order to carry out their bribery and kickback scheme.

9
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1. Using t.he manners and means described above. MATHIS,

VALDES, and FoREMosT generated. and submitted claj-ms totaling over *22

million dollars for FoREMoST shockwave treatments procured through

bribes paid to Doctors, in violation of those Doctors' fiducj-ary duty

to their patients and in violation of California state laws

prohibitsing bribes and kickbacks, all of which was maleriaI to

insurers .

OVERT ACTS

20. In furtherance of the conspiracy and in order to effect the

objects thereof, defendants and others committed and caused the

commj-ssion of the following overt acLs in tshe southern DisErict of

Cal-ifornia and elsewhere:

a. In ,Ju1y 2O12, GEORGE K. REESE said he was "open tso

change" his shockwave treatmenE provider for patsients at his office,

in an effort to solicit a bribe in exchange for his referral of

patients.

b. On or about August f8, 201-2, LEE MATHIS offered to pay

Person A $L0o for each of REESE's shockwave referrals, knowing and

intending thats of thaE amount, $25 would be kept by Person A and $75

would go REESE .

c. On or about August 78, 2O!2, as part of a negotiation

with Person A regardlng the amount MATHfS was wilIi-ng to pay Person A

and REESE for referrals, MATHIS mentioned that he was then paying

Dr. D $100 per referral .

d. on or about Augnrs E 1-8, 20L2, MATHIS directed that the

$100 bribes would be disguised as a "marketsing fee" to Person A. who

would then disguj-se his/her payment to REESE as "rent" for office

space at REESE's office.
■0
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e. On or abou! August 20, 201-2, REESE agreed to accept a

$6,000 per month bribe Lo refer patients to FoREMoST for shockwave

treatments.

f. On or about August 20, 2OL2, MATHIS confirmed that

FoREMoST woul-d pay $100 to Person A for each of REEsE's shockwave

referrals, and offered Person A an additional 10* of the amounts

FoREMOST or iMedicaf collected for the tsreatmencs. as a further

inducement Eo secure REESE's referrals.

S. On or about Septsember 5, 2012, FERNANDO VALDES, REESE,

and Person A discussed in a phone call that FoREMoST would initlally

come to REEsE's clinic every oLher week t.o administer the shockwave

treaLmentss, eventually increasing to weekly visits

h. On or about Septsember 17, 2012, REESE participated in

a phone call to make arrangements Eo receive his first $6,000 bribe

payments from Person A, specifying that the payment should be in cash.

i. Around mid-september, REESE caused staff in his office

to schedule patients for shockwave t.reatments due to the $5,000 bribe

he had received.

j. On or abouL September 27, 2012, MATHTS explained in a

phone call that he was agreeing to have FOREMoST conduct shockwave

treatments at REESE's clinic because he was "relying on the fact"

that REESE had "promised at least a hundred" patsient referrals.
k. In the same September 27, 20L2 phone conversation,

Person A told MATHfS tshats REESE was expecting his upfront money, and

MATHIS urged Person A to give REESE the first half of the $5,000

bribe for Ehe month of October right. away if Person A had it.
l-. On or abouE Seplember 28, 20L2, explaining why he

needed Person A to front the bribe palment to REESE, MATHIS said that
11
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he was "already paying thirty thousand dollars a month" to Dr. D for

referrals, to do "300, 350 shockwaves a month, " which was "a lot of

money out of pockeE every month" for I4ATHTS.

m. On or about September 28, 20!2, explaining why he. and

noL VAIDES, would be the one to front lhe bribe paymenE to REESE,

MATHIS said that "Fernando has no money...This is a flash Lo you, f

know, buts any money Fernando gets is for me. It's my money -

Everything is my money. Everything in thj-s office runs on my money. "

n. On or about September 28, 2O!2, VALDES told Person A

that splitsting REESE's $6,000 bribe into two separate $3,000 payments

should be acceptabl-e to REESE and encouraged Person A to pay the

first $3,000 quickly.

o. on or about. september 29, 2012, REESE accepted a

$6,000 cash bribe in a gift bag from Person A, pursuanE to the bribe

agreement witsh Person A, MATHIS, VALDES, and FOREMOST. in the parking

lot of a ,Jo11y Roger restaurants in oceanside, California.

p . On or about Septei:tber 29 , 201-2 , af ter receiving the

$5.ooo, REESE agreed that t.he payment could be adjusted if he did not

make 1OO referrals per montsh. but reassured Person A that tshey

"wouldn't have any trou-bl-e with the numbers. "

q. On or about September 29, 20L2, Person A informed

MATHIS tshat Person A had meE with REESE and "took care of

everything, " referring to the $6,000 payrnents. and MATHIS said thaE

FOREMOST was ready and had hired someone justs to do the treatments aE

REESE's office.
r.   Prior to October 2′  20■ 2′  ⅣATHIS′  VALEIES′  and FOREMOST

caused REESE to refer patients to FOREMOST for shockwave treatments

■2
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on october 2, 2oL2, and to conceal from those patients Ehe bribe

REESE had received for making those referrals.

s. on or about ocEober 2, 2or2, MATHTS, VAIDES, and

FOREMOST sent a shockwave technician to conduct shockwave treatments

on 5 patients supplied by REESE as a resul-t of the bribery agreemenE

and the $5,000 bribe for the month of october.

ts. On or about October 3, 2072, MATHIS told Person A that

REESE "need [ed] " to schedule additional patients for shockwave

treatments t.o "catch up" on the number of paEients expected for Ehe

monlh of October in exchange for the $5,000 bribe payments.

u. Prior to October l-6 . 2oL2 , MATHIS , VAI.,DES , and

FoREMOST caused REESE to refer patients to FOREMOST for shockwave

treatments on October l-6, 20L2, and to conceal from tshose paEients

the bribe REESE had received for making those referrals.

v. on or about october 16, 20L2, VALDES confirmed in a

phone call with an employee at REESE's office Ehat 3l- patientss were

scheduled for shockwave treatmenEs thats day.

w. On or about October 1"6, 20'L2 MATHIS, VAIDES, and

FOREMOST sent a shockwave technician to conduct shockwave treatmentss

on 17 patients supplied by REESE as a result of t'he bribery and

kickback agreement.

x. Around mid-October, REESE caused staff in his office

to schedule patient.s for shockwave treatmenLs on October 30 due Eo

the $5,000 bribe he received for that month.

y. On or about October ]-9, 20]-2, wj-th VALDES present/

MATHIS explained Ehe structure he used to secretly pay bribes and

kickbacks for referrals - that is. MATHIS arranged for an

Intermediary to "1ease" FOREMOST to perform shockwave treatments and

13
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acquj-re the receivables, and E.hen reguired t.he Intermediary Eo

contract with iMedical to collect on the receivables. MATHIS sai-d he

also arranged for the Intermediary to pay the bribes and kickbacks to

Doctors through an untraceable "management company, " but warned that

these "kickback t.hings" violated the Iaw.

z. on or about October 25, 20]-2, VAIDES agreed to try to

persuade MATHIS to give Person A some of the upfronu bribe money to

be paid to REESE.

aa. on or about october 25, 20f2, VALDES provided to

Person A a list showing tshat FOREMOST had submitted claims for 5 of

REESE'S patients from October 2, arfd 17 patients from October 16.

bb. On or about October 25, 2012, REESE, MATHIS, VAIDES,

and FoREMOST caused. a claim for $4,200 to be mailed tso the employer

of REESE's patient 1.,.S., in the Southern District of California, for

shockwave Ereatments for L.S. on October 2 ar\d !6, 2012, which was

bi11ed under tshe wrong code, falsely and fraudulenlIy reported that

REESE was t.he provider for the shockwave treatments, and which

omitted the material information that the claim had been procured as

a result of a bribe paid to REESE.

cc. on or about october 25, 20L2, REESE, MATHIS, VAIDES,

and FoREMOST caused a claim for $4,200 to be mailed to a CWCS insurer

for shockwave treaEmen! for REESE'S patients M.F. on October 2 and 16,

2012, which was biI1ed under the wrong code, falsely and fraudulently

reported Ehats REESE was t.he provider for the shockwave treatments,

and which omitted the material- information that the claim had been

procured as a result of a bribe paid to REESE.

dd. On or abouts October 26, 2O)-2, when Person A told
MATHIS and VALDES that. REESE wanted his money for November, MATHfS

■4
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complained that REESE was noし   k`eeping up with his numbers′ ″ but

agreed to continue with the treatments scheduled for October 30′  20■ 2

because REESE had already been paid for October

ee.  On or about October 26′  20■ 2′  REESE accepted 13′ 000 in

cash from person A at a restaurant in De■  Mar′  pursuant to the br■ be

agreement with Person A′   MATHIS′  VALDES′  and FOREMOST′  as partia■

payment of the November month■ y bribe.

ff.  Prior  to  October  30′   20■ 2′   MATHIS′   VALDES′   and

FOREMOST caused REESE to refer patients to FOREMOST for shockwave

treatments on october 30′   20■ 2′  and to concea■  from those patients

the bribe REESE had received for making those referrals.

gg.   On or about October 30′   20■ 2′  ⅣATHIS′  VALDES′  and

FOREMOST sent a shockWave technic■ an to conduct shockwave treatments

on ■9 patients referred by REESE as a result of the bribery agreement

and the s6′ 000 bribe for the month of October.

hh.  On or about October 30′   20■ 2′  yIATHIS gave person A

5500 to be given to REESE in partia■  payment of the bribe for

November.

ii.  On or about November ■′  20■ 2′  REESE accepted a s500

bribe from person A and FOREMOST′  pursuant to the bribe agreement

with Person A′  MATHIS′  VALDES′  and FOREMOST′  and committed to finding

more of his patients to refer to FOREMOST for shockwave treatments in

exchange for bribes and kickbacks.

jj.  On or about November ■′ 20■ 2′  REESE asked Person A to

supply an emp■ oyee to help review REESE′ s patient fi■ es to identify

candidates  whom  REESE  cou■ d  refer  to  FOREMOST  for  shockwave

treatments in exchange for bribes.
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kk. On or about Novefiiber 2, 2OL2, when Person A told

MATHIS that Person A did nots have the funds !o pay REESE the rest of

the $6, OOO for November, MATHIS responded that since REESE had

already been paid for half of November, they should continue for the

time being, and suggested that MATHIS might. find someone else who

could help "invest" in t.he deal with REESE.

11. On or about November 2, 2012, when Person A told

MATHIS thats REESE wantsed the entj-re pa)rment for November before

scheduling more patient.s for shockwave, MATHIS said he woul-d cancef

t.he FoREMoST lechnician's planned trip to REESE's clinic.

mm. On or about November 5, 20f2, REESE accepted a $2,500

check, wrapped j-nside a newspaper, representing the rest of the bribe

payment for the month of Novemlcer.

nn. Around early November, REESE caused staff in his

office to schedule patiencs for shockwave treatments on November 17

due to the $5,ooo in bribes he received for that month.

oo. On or about November 9, 20]-2, REESE, MATHIS, VALDES,

and FOREMOST caused a claim for $2,100 to be mailed Eo the patient's

employer in the southern District of Cal-ifornia. for shockwave

Ereatsment for REESE's palient L.s. on October 30, 20L2, which was

bil-l-ed under the wrong code. falsely and fraudulently reported that

REESE was the provider for the shockwave Lreatments, and which

omitted the materj-a1 information that the claim had been procured as

a result of a bribe paid to REESE.

pp. After REESE had provided only about 4a patients

referrals for the month of October, on abouE Novemlcer 9, 2012, MATHIS

said that he would conEinue the deal only if REESE "couId get cl-ose

to doing one hundred" patient referrals per month.
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qq. On or abouts Novemlcer 11, 2012, REESE, MATHIS, VAIDES,

and FoREMOST caused a cl-aim for $2,100 tso be mailed to a CWCS insurer

for shockwave treatment for REEsE's patient A.P. on October 30, 20]-2,

which was bil-l-ed under the wrong code. falsely and fraudulently

reported thaL REESE was t,he provider for Lhe shockwave t.reatments,

and which omitted the material information thats the claim had been

procured as a result of a bribe paid to REESE.

rr. On or abouts November 13, 201.2, MATHIS, VALDES, and

FoREMoST sent a shockwave technician to conduc! shockwave treatments

on patientss supplied by REESE as a result of the bribery agreement.

ss. On or about Novernber 13, 2012, REESE, MATHfS, VAIDES,

and FOREMOST conceal-ed from REESE's patients thaL REESE had referred

them to FOREMOST for shockwave treatmenLs as a result of a bribery

agreement.

tt. Around mid-November, REESE caused staff in his office

to schedul-e patsients for shockwave treatments on November 27 due to

the $5,000 bribe he received for Ehats month.

uu. On or about Novembet 27, 20L2, MATHIS, VAI,DES, and

FOREMOST sent a shockwave Eechnician Eo conduct shockwave treatsmentss

on patienls supplied by REESE as a resuft of tshe bribery agreemen!.

w. on or about Novernber 27, 2012, REESE, MATHIS, VALDES,

and FoREMOST concealed from REESE's patj-enls that. REESE had referred

them tso FoREMoST for shockwave Ereatments as a result of a bribery

agreement.

ww. On or about November 28, 201-2, REESE, MATHIS, VALDES,

and FOREMOST caused a claim for $2,100 tro be mailed to a CWCS insurer

for shockwave treatment for REESE's pat,ient G.A. on November 13,

20L2, w}rj-ch was billed under the wrong code, falsely and fraudulentLy

L7
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reported that REESE was the provider for tshe shockwave Ereatsments,

and which omitted the material information that the claim had been

procured as a result of a bribe paid to REESE.

xx. On or about November 28, 2012, REESE, MATHIS, VAIDES,

and FoREMOST caused a claim for $2,100 tso be mailed t.o a cwcs insurer

for shockwave treatment for REESE's paEient S-M. on November 13,

201-2, which was bilIed under the wrong code. falsely and fraudulently

reported that REESE was the provider for the shockwave tsreatments,

and which omitted t.he material information that the claim had been

procured as a result of a brlbe paid Lo REESE.

W. On or about Decedber 4, 20L2, REESE, MATHIS, VAIDES,

and FoREMOST caused a claim for $2,100 to be mailed Eo a cwcs insurer

for shockwave treatsment for REESE's patient A.V- on Novedber l-3,

2012, which was bi1Ied under tshe wrong code, falsely and fraudulently

reportsed that REESE was the provider for the shockwave treatsments,

and which omitted t.he material information that the claim had been

procured as a results of a brj-be paid to REESE-

zz. On or aboue December l-1, 2012, in a text message,

REESE told Person A that REESE had canceled shockwave tsreatments for

his patientss because REESE had nots received any bribe payment for

December .

aaa. On or about December 18, 201-2, REESE. MATHIS, VALDES,

and FoREMoST caused a claim fot $2,1-oo !o be mailed to a CI{CS insurer

for shockwave treatment for REESE's patien! M.M. on November 27,

2012, which was billed under the wrong code, falsely and fraudulently

reported thaE REESE was the provider for the shockwave treatments,

and which omitEed the material information that the claim had been

procured as a result of a bribe paid to REESE.
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bbb. On or about December l-8, 201-2, REESE, MATHIS, VAIDES,

and FOREMOST caused a claim for i2,100 to be mailed Eo the patient's

employer in the southern District of california, for shockwave

treatmenL for REESE'g patient A.M. on Novehber 27, 20]-2, wlrich was

bj-lIed under the wrong code, falsely and fraudulen!1y reported that

REESE was Ehe provider for t,he shockwave treaEments. and which

omitted the material information that the claim had been procured as

a result of a bribe paid to REESE.

ccc. On or about. April 2, 2O].5, REESE. MATHIS, VALDES, and

FoREMoST mailed and caused to be mailed a California Workers'

Compensation Appeals Board form to an attorney in the Southern

District of Cal-ifornia in an effort to collect payment for the

shockwave treatment for REESE's patient M.M. on November 27, 2012.

Al-1 in violation of Titl-e l-8, united states Code, Section 371.

counts 2-5
HONEST SERVICES MAIL FRAUD

[18 U.S.C. SS 134]-, 1346, & 21

[ALL DEFENDANTS ]

2f. Paragraphs 1 through l-5 of tshis Indictment are reafleged

and incorporated by reference.

22. Beginning on an unknown date and continuing through uhe

date of this Indictment. within the southern District of California

and elsewhere, defendants cEoRGE K. REESE. GEoRGE K. REESE

PROFESSIONAL CEIROPRACTTC CORPORATION, LEE MATHIS, FERNANDO VAIDES.

FOREMOST SHOCKWAVE SOLUTfONS and others, knowingly and with the

intsent to defraud, devised and intended Eo devise a material scheme

to defraud, that is, to deprive patients of their intangible rights to

Doctors' honest servi-ces.
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MAILINGS IN FI'RTHERJA}ICE OF TIIE SCHEME

24. On or about the dates listed beIow, withj-n the Southern

District of California and elsewhere, for the purpose of executing

the above-described scheme to defraud, and attempting to do so,

defendants GEORGE K. REESE, GEORGE K. REESE PROFESSIONAL CHfROPRACTIC

CORPORATTON, LEE MATHIS, FERNANDO VALDES, aNd FOREMOST SHOCKWAVE

SOLIJIIIONS knowingly caused to be delivered by mai1, according to the

direction thereon, the following matters:

23. Paragraphs 18 through

and incorporated by reference

defraud.

A11

and

20 of this Indictment are realleged

as further describing the scheme to

ｎ

　

　

　

・

・■

　

　

２

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341,, L346

Count 6

TR,I\IEIJ ACT
18 U.s.c. SS L9s2 (a) (1) (A), (a) (3) (A), AIVD 2

IALL DEFENDANTS]

25. Paragraphs L through 15 are realleged and incorporated by

reference.

26. On or about September 5, 2012, within the Southern District
of California and elsewhere, defendants GEORGE K. REESE, GEORGE K.

20
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REESE PROFESSIONAL CHIROPRACTIC CORPORATION. LEE MATHIS. FERNANDO

VALDES, and FoREMoST SHOCKWAVE SoLIIffoNS, used and caused to be used

a facility in interstate commerce, namely, a tselephone, with the

intent to promote, manage, establish, carr:y of,, distribute tshe

proceeds of. and facilitate tshe promotion, management, establishment,

carrying oD. and distsributsion of the proceeds of, an unlawful

activity, that is, bribery in violation of California Labor Code

sections 139.3 and 321-5, California Business and Professions Code

section 550, and California Insurance Code SecEion 750, and.

thereaftser. tso promote and attempt to perform actss to promote,

manage, establish, carry otr, distribute the proceeds of, and

facilitate the promoLion, management, establ-ishment, carrying on, and

distribution of the proceeds of, such unlawful acLivity,' in violation

of Title l-8, United states Code, sections 1952(a) (1) (A) . (a) (:) (e) ,

and 2.

Count 7

TRAVEL ACT
■8 UoSoC. §§ ■952(a)(■ )(A)′  (a)(3)(A) AND 2

[ALL DEFENDANTS]

27.   Paragraphs ■ through ■5 are rea■ leged and incorporated by

reference.

2a. On or about September ■7′   20■ 2′   within  the  Southern

District of Ca■ ifornia and e■ sewhere′   defendants GEORGE K. REESE′

GEORGE K.  REESE PROFESSIONAL CHIROPRACTIC CORPORAT■ ON′  LEE MATHIS′

FERNATJDO VALDES′  and FOREMOST SHOCKWAVE SOLUTIONS′  used and caused to

be used a faci■ ity in interstate commerce′  name■ y′  a telephone′  with

the ■ntent to promote′  manage′  estab■ ish′  carry on′  distribute the

proceeds of′  and fac■ ■itate the promotion′  management′  estab■ ishment′

carrying  on′   and  distribution  of  the  proceeds  of′   an  unlawfu■
2■
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activity, that is, bribery in viol-ation of California Labor code

sections l-39.3 and 3215, California Busj.ness and Professions Code

Section 650, and California Insurance Code Section 750, and.

thereafter. tso promote and attempt to perform actss to promote,

manage, estsablish, carry oE. disEributse the proceeds of, and

facj-litate the promotion, managements, establishment, carrying on, and

distsrlbutsion of the proceeds of, such unlawful- activity; in violation

of Tirle 1-8, United States code, sectsions 1952(a) (1) (A), (a) (:)(e) ,

and 2.

Count 8

TRAVEI,, ACT
18 u.s.c. SS 19s2 (a) (1) (A), (a) (3) (A), AI\TD 2

[AI,I, DEFENDANTS ]

29. Paragraphs 1 through l-5 are realleged and incorporated by

reference,

30. On of about september 27 , 2012, within the southern

Distsrict of California and elsewhere, defendants GEoRGE K. REESE,

GEORGE K. REESE PROFESSIONAI CH]ROPRACTTC CORPORATION, I.,EE MATHIS,

FERNANDO VALDES, and FOREMOST SHOCKWAyE SOLUTIONS, used and caused to

be used a facility in intersEate commerce, namely. a telephone, with

the intent to promote, manage, establish, carry on, distribute the

proceeds of. and facifitate the promotion, management. establishment,

carrying oD. and distribution of t.he proceeds of, an unlawful

act.ivity, that is, bribery in violat.ion of Californj.a Labor Code

Sections l-39.3 and 3215, California Business and Professions Code

Sectlon 650, and California Insurance Code Sectsion 7SO, and,

thereafter, to promote and atsEempt to perform acts tso promote,

manage, estabLish, carry of,, distribute the proceeds of, and

faciLitate the promotion, management, establishment, carrying on, and
22
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distr■ bution of the proceeds

of Tit■ e ■8′  United States

and 2.

of′  such un■ awfu■ activity′  in vio■ ation

Code′  Sections ■952(a)(■ )(A)′  (a)(3)(A)′

Counts 9

TRAVEL ACT
■8 U.S.Co SS ■952(a)(■ )(A)′  (a)(3)(A)′  AND 2

[ALL DEFENEIANTS]

3■ .   Paragraphs ■ through ■5 are rea■ ■eged and incorporated by

reference.

32.   On or about October ■6, 20■ 2′  within the Southern District

of Ca■ ifornia and e■ sewhere′   defendants GEORGE K.  REESE′   GEORGE K.

REESE  PROFESSIONAL  CHIROPRACTIC  CORPORAT■ ON′  LEE  MATHIS′   FERNANDO

VALDES′  and FOREMOST SHOCKWAVE SOLUT■ ONS′  uSed and caused to be used

a faci■ ity in interstate commerce′   name■ y,  a te■ ephone′   with the

intent  to  promote′   manage′   establish′   carry  on′   distribute  the

proceeds of′  and faci■ itate the promotio■ ′ management′  estab■ ishment′

carrying  on′   and distribution  of  the  proceeds  of′   an  un■ awful

activity′  that  is′   bribery in violation of  Ca■ ifornia Labor Code

Sections ■39.3  and 32■ 5,  Ca■ iforn■ a Bus■ness and Profess■ ons  Code

Section  650′   and  Ca■ ifornia  lnsurance  Code  Section  750,  and′

thereafter′   to promote  and attempt  to perform  acts  to promote′

manage′   estab■ ish′   carry  on′  distribute  the  proceeds  of′   and

facilitate the promotion′  management′  estab■ ishment′  carrying on′  and

distribution of the proceeds of′  such un■awful activity′  in vio■ ation

of Tit■ e ■8′  Un■ ted States Code′  Sections ■952(a)(■ )(A)′  (a)(3)(A)′

and 2.

//

//

//
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FORFE■ TURE ALLECAT工 ON

33.   Paragraphs ■ through 32 of this lndictment are real■ eged

and inCOrporated aS if fu■ ■y set forth herein for the purpose of

al■ eging forfeiture.

34.   Pursuant to Federal Ru■ e of Criminal ProCedure 32.2′  notice

is hereby given that upon conviction of any Of the offenses of Honest

Services Mail Fraud as alleged in Counts 2 through 5′  Or vio■ ations

of the Travel Act′   as al■eged in Counts 6 through 9′   defendants

CEORGE   K.   REESE′    GEORGE   K.   REESE   PROFESSIONAL  CHIROPRACTIC

CORPORATION′   LEE  ⅣATHIS′  FERNANDO  VALDES′   and  FOREMOST  SHOCKWAVE

SOLUTIONS′ pursuant to Title l-8, United    States    COde′

Un■ ted   States   Code′Section 98■ (a)(■ )(C)′ and   Tit■ e   28′

Section 246■ (c)′  Sha■ ■ fOrfeit tO the United States: (a) a■ ■ right′

title′   and  interest  in  any  property′   rea■   or  persona■ ′  that

constitutes  or  is  derived′   directly  or  indirectly′   from  gross

proceeds traceab■ e to the commiSSion of such offenses and (b) a sum

of  money  equal  tO  the  tota■   amount  of  gross  proceeds  deriVed′

diFect■y or indirect■ y′  from such offenses.

35.   If any of the above described forfeitab■ e property′  as a

result of any act or omission of defendants: (a) Cannot be ■ocated

upon the exerciSe of due di■ igence, (b) haS been transferred or so■ d

to′  or depOsited with′  a third party′  (c) haS been placed beyond the

jurisdiction of the Court, (d) has been substantial■ y diminished in

value′  or (e)has been commingled with other property which cannot be

divided without difficu■ ty′  it is the intent of the United States′

pursuant  to  Tit■ e  2■ ′  United  States  Code′   Section  853(p) and

Tit■ e ■8′  Un■ ted States Code, Section 982(b)′   to seek forfeiture of

24
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any other property of defendants

property descr■ bed above.

A■l pursuant to Tit■ e ■8′  Un■ted

and Title 28′  United States Code′

DATED:  November 5′  20■ 5.

LAURA E. DUFFY
Un■ ted States Attorney

By:

By:

By:

up to the value of t.he forfeitable

Code′  Section

246■ (c).

98■ (a)(■ )(C)′S tates

Section

A TRUE BILL:

Assistant U. S. Attorney

Assistant U. S. Attorney

Assistant U.S. Attorney
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